
Emergency procedure for meetings will be circulated to Councillors and visitors 
attending this meeting. Please familiari se yourself with these procedures and the 
location of fire exits. 

Switchboard: 01293 438000
Main fax: 01293 511803
Minicom: 01293 405202 DX: 
57139 Crawley 1
www.crawley.gov.uk

Town Hall
The Boulevard

Crawley
West Sussex

RH10 1UZ

Town Hall
The Boulevard

Crawley
West Sussex

RH10 1UZ

Crawley Borough Council

Governance Committee

Agenda for the Governance Committee which will be held in 
Committee Room B - Town Hall, on Tuesday, 28 November 2017 at 
7.30 pm

Nightline Telephone No. 07881 500 227

Head of Legal and Democratic Services

Membership:
Councillors T Lunnon (Chair), R D Burrett (Vice-Chair), D Crow, C R Eade, 

M G Jones, S J Joyce, P K Lamb, R A Lanzer, K McCarthy, T Rana 
and A C Skudder

Please contact Democratic Services if you have any queries regarding this agenda. 
democratic.services@crawley.gov.uk
Published 20 November 2017

Public Document Pack

Page 1



The order of business may change at the Chair’s discretion

Part A Business (Open to the Public)

Pages

1.  Apologies for Absence 

2.  Disclosures of Interest 

In accordance with the Council's Code of Conduct, Councillors 
of the Council are reminded that it is a requirement to declare 
interests where appropriate.

3.  Minutes 3 - 4

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the Governance 
Committee held on 15 March 2017.

4.  Electoral Review 2017/2018 5 - 54

To consider report LDS/132 of the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services.

5.  2018 Review of Parliamentary Constituencies 55 - 58

To consider report LDS/133 of the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services.

6.  Supplemental Agenda 

Any urgent item(s) complying with Section 100(B) of the Local 
Government Act 1972.

This information is available in different formats and languages.  If you or 
someone you know would like help with understanding this document please 
contact the Democratic Services Team on 01293 438549 or email: 
democratic.services@crawley.gov.uk

Page 2

mailto:democratic.services@crawley.gov.uk


Governance Committee (12)
15 March 2017

Crawley  Borough  Council

Minutes of Governance Committee
15 March 2017 at 7.00pm

Present:
Councillor J Stanley (Chair)
Councillor R D Burrett (Vice–Chair)
Councillors D Crow, C R Eade, S J Joyce, P K Lamb, R A Lanzer,               

T Lunnon, K McCarthy and A C Skudder

Officers Present:

Ann- Maria Brown Head of Legal and Democratic Services
Mez Matthews Democratic Services Officer
Chris Pedlow Democratic Services Manager

Apology for Absence:

Councillor M G Jones

16. Members’ Disclosure of Interests

No disclosures of interests were made by Members.

17. Minutes

The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 14 November 2016 were 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

18. Comprehensive Review of the Constitution

The Committee considered report LDS/126 of the Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services which sought approval for the first comprehensive review of the Constitution 
since its creation in 2001.  The aim of the review was to devise a Crawley Constitution 
which was more useable, fit for purpose and modern in structure, to enable users to 
take decisions and/or understand procedures and protocols in a manner which 
encouraged efficiency.  The Committee noted that it was proposed that the new 
redrafted Constitution would take effect from the 18 May 2018 (AGM of the Full 
Council), and not the 1 May 2018 as stated in the report.

It was suggested by a member of the Committee that consideration be given to the 
inclusion of data flow diagrams in the Constitution to enable users to easily follow 
procedure, and that plain English be used throughout the document.  The Committee 
noted that the current Constitution would continue to be used whilst the review took 
place and that, should any significant changes be necessary to the current 
Constitution (for example in relation to legislation), such changes would be considered 
by the Governance Committee with a recommendation to Full Council.

Page 33 Agenda Item 3

http://www.crawley.gov.uk/pub_livx/groups/operational/documents/minutes/pub300633.docx
http://www.crawley.gov.uk/pub_livx/groups/operational/documents/committeereport/pub308238.pdf


Governance Committee (13)
15 March 2017

RESOLVED

1. That a comprehensive review of the Council’s Constitution be undertaken, with 
an aim that the updated Constitution be approved by Full Council, via the 
Governance Committee and be in place for the start of the 2018/19 municipal 
year.

2. That officers be authorised to re-write and redesign the Constitution based on 
the principles and format set out in paragraphs 5.4 and 5.5 of report LDS/126. 
That in doing so, officers be given the authority to make any necessary editorial 
changes, which ensure that the new Constitution is streamlined and fit for a 
modern Council.

3. That the Constitution Working Group be re-established (with a membership of 
3:2), to keep an overarching steer and guidance on the Constitutional redesign 
process, through the receipt of electronic updates.

4. That when material changes to the Constitution are proposed, and in discussion 
with the Chair of the Working Group, such changes be brought before a meeting 
of the Constitution Working Group which will be convened for that purpose.  All 
paperwork for meetings of the Working Group will be provided electronically.

5. That the Chair of the Constitution Working Group provide an update on the 
progress of the redesign at each scheduled meeting of the Governance 
Committee.

6. That the Head of Legal and Democratic Services be authorised to remove all 
names listed under membership (with the exception of Cabinet) and the removal 
of any officer names from the Constitution to be approved for the 2017 Full 
Council (AGM).

19. Provisions Relating to Call-In and Urgency

The Committee was advised that there had been no cases, during the period since the 
last report, where an item had been protected from the Call-In Procedure on the 
grounds of urgency as provided for in Scrutiny Procedure Rule 14(k).  The Committee 
noted that a recommendation to Full Council in relation to this matter would only be 
necessary if the Committee proposed to make a change to the provisions relating to 
Call-In and Urgency.

RESOLVED

That since the provisions relating to Call-In and Urgency have not been used during 
the past twelve months, no change to the provisions are necessary at this stage.

20. Closure of Meeting

With the business of the Committee concluded, the Chair declared the meeting closed 
at 7.20pm.

J STANLEY
Chair 

Page 43 Agenda Item 3



Crawley Borough Council
Report to Governance Committee

28th November 2017

Electoral Review 2017/2018

Report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services – LDS/132

1. Purpose

1.1 To consider the Council’s draft Submission on Council size to the Local Government 
Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE).

2. Recommendations

2.1 That the Committee:

1. Endorses the draft Submission on Council size, and

2. Recommends to Full Council the approval of the document at Appendix A for 
final submission to the Local Government Boundary Commission for England, 
and in doing so agrees that the Council size be proposed at 39 Councillors from 
May 2019.

3. Reasons for the Recommendations

3.1 To ensure that the Council’s views on Council size are submitted to the Local 
Government Boundary Commission for England in accordance with the Review 
timetable by proposing the number of Councillors that the Council believes will be 
right for the authority from May 2019 to ensure appropriate levels of governance, 
scrutiny and community leadership.

4. Background

4.1 The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) is conducting 
an Electoral Review of Crawley during 2018. The Commission monitors levels of 
electoral equality between wards within each local authority and conducts Reviews 
where changes in population lead to a reduction in the levels of electoral equality. 
The aim of a Review is to establish ward boundaries that mean each Borough 
Councillor represents approximately the same number of voters.

4.2 The electoral arrangements for Crawley were last reviewed in 2002. Developments 
in the Borough, particularly in Three Bridges Ward, since that time has led to 
electoral inequality between wards that the Review by the LGBCE will address.

Page 54 Agenda Item 4



4.3 Reviews are conducted under the provisions of the Local Democracy, Economic 
Development and Construction Act 2009 and cover: 

 The number of Councillors to be elected to the Council (Council size)
 The number, names and boundaries of wards
 The number of Councillors to be elected for each ward

4.4 In deciding the above, Schedule 2 to the 2009 Act sets out the statutory criteria to 
which the Commission are required to have regard to, these are:

 The need to ensure equality of representation
 The need to reflect the identities and interests of local communities; and
 The need to secure effective and convenient local government

The Review Process 

4.5 On 21st September 2017 representatives of the Commission made a presentation to 
Councillors outlining the timetable for the Review as set out in 4.6.

4.6 There are four stages to the Review:

Stage one - Council Size – response required by w/c 11th December 2017

The Commission invites the Council to make a proposal for the number of 
Councillors based on the Council’s Governance and Scrutiny arrangements together 
with the representational role of Councillors in the Borough. During this stage the 
Council provides an electorate forecast broken down by polling district for 2023. This 
forecast is then used as the basis for proposing patterns of wards in the subsequent 
stages.

Stage two - Initial Consultation – response required by 9th April 2018

On 30th January 2018 the LGBCE will announce the number of Councillors that it is 
minded to approve and invite proposals for a pattern of ward boundaries. The 
deadline for responses is 9th April.

Stage three - Draft Recommendations – response required by 13th August 2018

The Commission’s draft recommendations will be published on 5th June and 
comments must be received 13th August.

Stage four - Final Recommendations

The Final Recommendations will be published sometime in October and will come 
into force for the elections in May 2019.

5. Council Size Submission and Electorate Forecast

5.1 At its meeting held on 14th November 2016 the Committee established an Electoral 
Review Working Panel to undertake the detailed work relating to the Review and to 
make recommendations to the Committee prior to any proposals being submitted to 
the LGBCE.

Page 64 Agenda Item 4



5.2 Following the work of the Panel the submission document included at Appendix A 
has been prepared based on the criteria that the LGBCE is required to have regard 
to, including:

 Governance and decision making information which includes looking at how 
Councillors work, how their responsibilities are structured, demand and 
commitment pressures on their time;

 Scrutiny functions and the role of Councillors in this and in the work of 
outside bodies;

 The representational role of Councillors including their role in engaging with 
constituents and dealing with casework.

5.3 The LGBCE requires that the future size of the population and resulting projected 
electorate is calculated for 5 years from the formal start of the Review, to 2023. The 
Forward Planning team have produced a forecast document (Crawley 2023 
Electorate Forecast) and this is included at Appendix B.

6. Implications

6.1 The Electoral Review is a statutory process which is governed by the Local 
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. The LGBCE is 
an independent body established by parliament under the same Act. The 
LGBCE is responsible for undertaking this Review following statutory 
considerations. The Submission follows the guidance provided by the 
Commission. The LGBCE’s final recommendations will be laid in Parliament in 
November 2018.

7. Background Papers

LGBCE - Electoral Reviews technical guidance

LGBCE - Have your say on Council size

LGBCE  - A practioner’s guide on how to prepare an electorate forecast

Report author and contact officer:
Andrew Oakley, Electoral Services Manager.01293 438346

Page 74 Agenda Item 4

https://www.lgbce.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/10410/techincal-guidance-2014.pdf
https://www.lgbce.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0013/10390/council-size-guide.pdf
https://www.lgbce.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0013/10390/council-size-guide.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Electoral Review
of Crawley Borough Council

Size of Council

Page 94 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



Council Size Boundary Review - 
Supporting Information

1. Background

1.1 The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) have notified 
the Council that they will hold a Review of the electoral arrangements of Crawley 
Borough Council during 2018. The Commission monitors levels of electoral 
equality between wards within each local authority and conducts reviews where 
changes in population lead to a reduction in the levels of electoral equality. The 
aim of a review is to establish ward boundaries that mean each borough 
councillor represents approximately the same number of voters. 

1.2 The electoral arrangements for Crawley were last reviewed in 2002. Development 
in the borough, particularly in Three Bridges Ward since that time has led to 
electoral inequality between wards that the review by the LGBCE will address

1.3 The Review considers:

 The total number of Councillors for Crawley
 The names, number and boundaries of wards
 The number of Councillors to be elected from each ward

1.4 The preliminary stage of the review is for the LGBCE to determine the total 
number of Councillors to be elected in the future. This document set out the 
Council’s view in the light of the Council’s Governance arrangements and 
Decision Making Scrutiny functions, Representational role of Councillors in 
Crawley, the future in terms of known future trends and developments that may 
affect Council size and Crawley’s increasing electorate and comparison with 
statistical neighbours.

2. Executive Summary of the Council’s Proposals

2.1 The Council proposes to the Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England that the Council size be 39 Councillors.

2.2 In reaching this view the Council has established a Working Panel of Councillors. 
The Panel has taken into account that Crawley is a growing town with an 
electorate forecast to rise by 4914 by 2023. The Panel considered the Council’s 
governance arrangements, the way in which the Council fulfils its scrutiny 
functions, together with the workload for Councillors in fulfilling their 
representational role. The Panel has also considered the possibility for future 
developments in these factors.

Page 104 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



3. Introduction to Crawley Borough

3.1 Crawley Borough covers 4,497 hectares and the Borough Council serves a 
vibrant and growing town of 111,400 people (ONS mid-year population estimates 
2016). 

3.2 Crawley has its origins in the Middle Ages or even earlier. However, the majority 
of its growth and its character is derived from its designation as a New Town in 
1947. Crawley was one of eight new towns established by the Government after 
the war to stem the increasing congestion and outward sprawl of London and to 
provide a better quality of life for Londoners living in the inner, overcrowded areas 
of the city. The New Town was to provide employment and good quality housing 
in a green environment. In the beginning nine residential neighbourhoods were 
envisaged, each based on a village concept, grouped around a town centre with 
an industrial estate in the North.  Every neighbourhood was to have the same 
basic structure though each would develop a character of its own.  Each would 
have a neighbourhood centre with enough shops to meet day to day needs, plus 
an infant and junior school, church, community centre, large playing field and pub.

3.3 The New Towns Act provided that when a New Town was judged to be 
substantially complete its development corporation would be wound up.   In 1978, 
the Commission for the New Towns’ housing and associated properties and land 
were transferred to the Borough Council.  The Council is one of the largest 
housing authorities in the South East with 8104 tenanted properties and 1497 
leasehold properties. It is the largest landlord in Crawley, providing homes to 1 in 
5 residents. In 2017 Crawley has celebrated 70 years as a new town.

3.4 Crawley is a vibrant town and sits in the heart of the Gatwick Diamond sub 
region. The town is home to Gatwick Airport and Manor Royal Business District – 
the largest business park in the Gatwick Diamond and one of the South East’s 
premier mixed activity employment hubs providing almost 10million square feet of 
commercial activity. It is home to more than 500 businesses including a host of 
Blue Chip Global brands. The Borough accounts for 40% of business rates 
collected in West Sussex and is a major centre of employment, wealth creation, 
transport links, proximity to London, and good quality leisure and community 
facilities attract people to Crawley to live, work and visit. Crawley is a relatively 
prosperous town although there are some big differences between 
neighbourhoods and there are also pockets of deprivation in most of the wards.

3.5 Crawley’s population of 111,400 (ONS mid-year population estimates 2016) is 
projected to continue to grow. The largest growth in population was in the 
retirement population - which increased by 2.8% over the 20 year period to 2009. 
13% of the Crawley population are aged over 65years. These also lead to 
increasing demands on a range of services.

3.6 Fundamental to the urban form of the town is the principle of a town centre 
offering leisure and shopping opportunities, surrounded by a series of residential 
neighbourhoods with their own facilities within a neighbourhood parade; and 
separate industrial areas. The neighbourhoods are a key feature of the planning 
and development of Crawley that have delivered a compact urban form with a 

Page 114 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



good transport hierarchy, sustainable public transport links and a relatively high 
proportion of green and open space.

3.7 The idea of developing a ‘neighbourhood’ as the foundation stone for a new 
community and the building block for the provision of local services and facilities 
is not a new one.  It is one, which almost all post war British New Towns adopted 
and developed.  However, of all the new towns, Crawley has by far the most 
clearly defined and continuously maintained neighbourhood structure.  To the 
present day virtually all major additions to the town are planned or conceived in 
terms of continuing the process of developing neighbourhoods.

3.8 A neighbourhood in Crawley’s case is much more than a name for an area of 
mainly residential development.  It is:

 A well-defined, and largely separate area of consolidated and quite often 
similar development.  It forms an easily perceived and identified area.
An area provided with its own complete range of facilities and services.  It 
has at its heart a local neighbourhood centre.  It has its own first and middle 
schools, churches, community buildings, doctor’s surgery, playing fields and 
playing areas and many other facilities.  Frequently most, if not all such 
facilities, are named so as to be specifically identified as being part of the 
neighbourhood.

 An area is normally separated on all sides from the next neighbourhood by 
major physical barriers such as railway lines, major areas of open space or 
main roads upon which there is little or no frontage housing developments.  
Frequently such road lines are reinforced by avenues of trees and other 
planting.  In principle, the layout of roads around and within neighbourhoods 
is designed to avoid unnecessary through-traffic in residential areas.

3.9 The aim of the design and layout of neighbourhoods and the provision of local 
facilities was, and still is, to create and sustain the local community identity.  The 
fact that a very high percentage of the local population identifies first and 
foremost with the neighbourhood in which they live, rather than Crawley or any 
other area, suggests that this neighbourhood community objective has been 
highly successful.

3.10 For most people in Crawley, their neighbourhood is their local community.  Their 
local community’s representatives are their local (Borough Council) Ward 
Councillors.  Borough Council Councillors are in most people’s eyes not Ward 
Councillors but Neighbourhood Councillors.

3.11 The strong physical separation which exists between neighbourhoods which 
generally contrast with the cohesion and unity within neighbourhood areas, 
makes it very difficult to devise wards crossing neighbourhood boundaries, which 
have any logic, unity and cohesion.

3.12 The name of the neighbourhood also appears on every road sign which is colour 
coded according to the neighbourhood.  Consequently, every resident knows 
which neighbourhood they live in and identifies with it.  It would be very confusing 
for electors if the ward neighbourhood principle was broken as a result of this 
review and the Council believes that it is not necessary to do so.

Page 124 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



3.13 Crawley now has 14 neighbourhoods, all with their own facilities and unique 
character. Building for the 14th neighbourhood, Forge Wood in Pound Hill, 
commenced in 2014, and Kilnwood Vale, a further new neighbourhood 
immediately adjacent to Crawley’s western boundary in the district of Horsham is 
also under construction.

3.14 The importance of the neighbourhoods can also be 
seen in the Council’s corporate branding and logo, (as 
shown on the right). When the logo was redesigned in 
2006 one of the drivers was that Council wanted a 
design that emphasised and reflected the Borough’s 
diversity of our population and spirits of each of our 
neighbourhoods. Therefore a design was created with 13 differently coloured 
leaves – one for each of the town’s neighbourhoods, echoing the colours used on 
each neighbourhood street signs. A 14th leaf has subsequently been added with 
the development of Forge Wood neighbourhood.

3.15 The Council has 37 elected Councillors, A Leader and Cabinet (The Executive) 
Model was adopted in 2012. Crawley is a Labour run Council, the political 
composition as of June 2017 was Labour – 20; Conservatives – 17. The last 
Borough election was held in May 2016. 6 Councillors are also Members of West 
Sussex County Council.

3.16 The Borough is made up of 15 wards, the map below shows how these are 
organised across the Borough.

3.17 The Council has established a Councillor Working Group (with representation 
from both Political Groups on the Council) in order to oversee this Review. The 
Panel consists of the following Councillors:

Page 134 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



Councillor Peter Lamb (Labour) - Chair
Councillor Michael Jones (Labour)
Councillor Tim Lunnon (Labour)
Councillor Duncan Crow (Conservative)
Councillor Richard Burrett (Conservative)

4. Governance Arrangements and Decision Making

4.1 The Council moved to the Leader and Cabinet form of local governance in 2001. 
In 2011 the Council adopted the “new style” Leader and Cabinet model which 
took effect following the elections in May 2012. This provides for the Leader to 
be elected by Full Council for a four year term and the Leader to be responsible 
for appointing a Deputy Leader and Cabinet.

4.2 Following a Scrutiny review into the Council’s Governance arrangements, which 
concluded in December 2016, the Council agreed to remain under a Leader and 
Cabinet system rather than either moving to a Committee system or a hybrid of 
each system. 

4.3 Full Council – All 37 Councillors are members and attend the Full Council meeting. 
There are three types of Council meetings:-

Annual Council Meeting – Usually meets in May around 3 weeks after the 
Borough election. At this meeting the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are elected for the 
municipal Year, all committees except Cabinet are established, Committee Chairs 
and Vice Chairs are appointed, also Councillors are appointed to some Outside 
Bodies. The Annual meeting also appoints the Leader of the Council for their four 
year term, as required.

Extraordinary Council Meeting – Arranged for a specific issue should the need 
arise (e.g. proposals for a second runway at Gatwick Airport), if requested by 9 
Councillors, or where Statue requires business to be dealt with at an 
Extraordinary meeting.

Ordinary Council Meeting – Usually meets in July, October, December, February 
(Budget setting) and April (5 Scheduled meetings per year).

   
4.4 The Full Council is responsible for:

 Agreeing the Council’s Constitution which contains the key governance 
documents including executive arrangements

 Agreeing the Policy Framework and key strategies including the Local Plan 
and any variations of it

 Agreeing the Budget and setting the Council tax and Business Rates
 Appointing Statutory Officers
 Appointing Committees to discharge Council functions
 Adoption of a Members Allowance scheme.

4.5 The ordinary Full Council meetings are the principal forum for political debate.  At 
these meeting Councillors:

 Consider recommendations that are the responsibility of the Full Council, 
sent via Cabinet and other Committees such as Governance, (3 per 
meeting on average)

 Debate matters rising from the Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
(OSC) and other committees. This allows backbenchers, or Councillors that 
who are not on a particular Committee, to raise an item for debate on a 

Page 144 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



previously resolved item so they may express a view on that issue (3-4 per 
meeting on average)

 Have 15 minutes to question Cabinet members on any aspect of their 
portfolio, along with the ability to seek written answers to questions 
submitted in advance

 Have a further 15 minutes to question Chairs of Committees
 Consider any submitted Notices of Motion put before the Full Council 1-2  

per meeting on average)
 Evaluate any submitted petitions 
 To debate called in Cabinet or Cabinet Member decisions 
 There is a period where Cabinet Members can also make announcements.

4.6 A key aspect of the Full Council meeting is public engagement through a 30 
minutes public question time. The public do not have to register to speak or 
submit their question in advance, instead they have the right to turn up on the 
night of the meeting to ask questions without notice.

4.7 Full Council meetings generally commence at 7.30pm, and are scheduled to 
finish at 10.00pm, when a Guillotine, may be used; unless a vote is taken to 
continue the meeting for a further 30 minute period. Subsequent votes can be 
taken to continue the meeting of further periods of 30 minutes.

On average Full Council meetings last approximately 3 hours 30 minutes.  

The Executive Function

4.8 Leader of the Council – The Leader of the Council has the responsibly for all the 
Executive functions of the Council. The Leader takes direct responsibility for the 
general direction of policy of the Council including community leadership and 
finance.  The Leader is supported by 6 other Cabinet Members.  The Cabinet 
Members are responsible for providing advice on specific issues within their 
portfolio areas of responsibility to help inform Cabinet decisions. The Portfolio 
areas are:

 Environmental Services and Sustainability.
 Housing
 Planning and Economic Development
 Public Protection and Community Engagement
 Resources
 Wellbeing

4.9 Cabinet – The Cabinet consists of the Leader as the Chair and 6 other Cabinet 
Members.  The Cabinet is the Executive committee within the Council and has 
responsibility for:
 Proposing the Policy Framework
 Implementing the policy framework and key strategies
 Proposing the Budget and Financial Strategy

4.10  The majority of key decisions are taken collectively by the Cabinet at its meetings. 
The Cabinet also considers a number of non-key but yet significant decisions at 
its meetings. Currently, there are 9 scheduled Cabinet meetings a year and last 
year (2016/17) there were 7 Cabinet meetings held with a further 3 provisional 
having been scheduled.

4.11 Public question time is a standard item on the Cabinet agenda and lasts for 15 
minutes.  Members of the public can attend and ask the Cabinet a question about 
any issue under the Executive side of the Council without needing to give prior 

Page 154 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



notification. The Cabinet also considers the referred items from the Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission.

4.12 A Cabinet Briefing is held approximately 4 weeks before all Cabinet meetings are 
scheduled to take place.  At Cabinet Briefings the Leader and their Cabinet are 
briefed informally in private on forthcoming reports. The Cabinet Briefing meeting 
enables the Cabinet to provide a steer and raise any question about a draft 
version of a report, and to ensure that a collective approach can be provided for 
the final consideration of the issues at the public Cabinet meeting.  

4.13 Whilst the Cabinet as a whole take most major decisions, Cabinet Members can 
take decisions for both key and non-key decisions. Senior officers are also 
empowered in terms of decisions making, including some key decisions in 
consultation with the respective Cabinet Member, as well as taking operational 
Executive (non-key decisions) under the Officers’ Scheme of Delegation.  

Regulatory Committees

4.14 Planning Committee – The Planning Committee is a quasi-judicial meeting, with 
a membership of 15 Councillors. The Committee is responsible for approving or 
refusing planning applications within the borough and as a result, over 40% of the 
Borough Councillors serve on the Committee. One of the main reasons why the 
Committee has a large membership is so Councillors can understand the 
developments occurring in their neighbourhood and ensure it in the best interest 
for their residents.

4.15 All Planning Committee members must have completed training before they can sit 
on the Committee, and there is a specific Code of Conduct on Planning Matters in 
place that provides information on their role and responsibilities in the decision 
making process. To keep Planning Committee members informed of the latest 
planning issues, briefing/training sessions take place before most meetings of the 
Planning Committee. Those sessions are open to all Councillors.

4.16 At the meeting themselves any non-Committee member may attend and, with the 
agreement of the Chair, may speak at the meeting.  Members of the public also 
have the right to speak if they are a registered interested party.  

4.17 The majority of planning decisions are delegated to officers.  The Planning 
Committee deals with major/complex and controversial applications together with 
those applications submitted by Councillors and employees, or where a Councillor 
has requested that the Committee determine the application.  During the 
2016/2017 municipal year, a total of 870 planning decisions were taken.  Of these 
804 (or 92.41%) were dealt with by officers under delegated powers with 66 (or 
7.58%) being dealt with by Committee. The planning meetings regularly last well 
over 2 hours.

4.18 Licensing Committee and Licensing Sub-Committee –These Committees are 
responsible for exercising the Council’s licensing and registration functions, and 
both are quasi-judicial Committees.  Both the Committee and Sub Committee have 
an identical membership of 15 Councillors in line with the statutory requirement for 
Licensing Sub-Committees.

4.19 The Licensing Committee normally meets five times a year, whereas the Licensing 
Sub-Committee only meets when required. 

4.20 Similarly to the Planning Committee, Licensing Sub Committee members must 
have received training before they can sit on a Licensing Sub Committee. There 

Page 164 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



are also training sessions prior to Licensing Committee meetings to ensure 
members are informed of the latest issues.

4.21 Audit Committee – The Audit Committee is responsible for:
 Internal audit and risk management which includes approving internal audit 

budget and resources plan.
 Considering the reports of external inspection agency risk management 

arrangements.
 Considering the effectiveness of the Council’s counter fraud and anti-

corruption arrangements.
 To consider corporate governance matters as well as matters arising under 

the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act, 2000 (RIPA).

4.22 Meetings of the Audit Committee start at 7.00 p.m. and meet, on average, four 
times a year with a membership of 5 Councillors 

4.23 Governance Committee – The Governance Committee, comprises 11 members.  
The Committee has responsibility for elections, electoral registrations, changing 
governance arrangements, the Members’ Allowances Scheme, the Council’s 
Constitution, including consideration of the Council’s Annual Governance 
Statement.  The Committee meets on average five times a year.

4.24 Currently the Governance Committee has two Working Groups which both consist 
of 5 Councillors, not necessarily all from Governance Committee membership. 
The two Working Groups are the Constitutional Review Working Group (CRWG) 
and the Electoral Boundaries Working Group. (EBWG). CRWG has responsibility 
for the comprehensive rewriting and updating of the Constitution, to ensure it is 
readable, concise and fit for purpose. The EBWG is the Working Group devising 
the Council’s submission for the Boundary Review for England.

Scrutiny Functions

4.25 Overview and Scrutiny Commission – The Council has one Scrutiny 
Committee called the Overview and Scrutiny Commission (OSC) with 
membership of 13 Councillors. The Committee is currently chaired by a member 
from the majority group however, the Vice-Chair must be from the opposition.  All 
Councillors, except Cabinet Members, are eligible for appointment as a member 
of the Commission.  The OSC is carried out in an apolitical and non-partisan 
manner. There are 9 scheduled OSC meetings per year.

4.26 The Commission has the following role:
 Provides 'critical friend' challenge and holds to account the Executive 

decision makers 
 Drives improvement, finds efficiencies and new ways of delivering services;
 Enables the voice and concerns of the public and its communities to be 

heard

Page 174 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



4.27 The main approaches used for achieving the Commission’s role are:
 Pre decision scrutiny, by scrutinising Cabinet reports prior to the decision 

being taken. (Part of the reason for this approach is to reduce the number of 
Call-in as scrutiny had occurred in advance of the decision) 

 Scrutinise the development of its budget and policy framework documents.
 Holding Portfolio discussions to critically challenge the Cabinet Member on 

their areas of responsibilities
 Quarterly transformation update – to track and drive service improvements
 Set up Scrutiny Panels to assist the Commission in its work;
 Have regard to any overview and scrutiny matter prescribed by legislation or 

regulation.
 Consider a petition referred to the OSC (50-999 signatories);

4.28 Scrutiny Reviews – Scrutiny reviews through Scrutiny Panels, is an approach 
used by the Commission to add value and achieve change. The Commission 
establishes these ‘time limited’ Scrutiny Panels, along with the Panels’ terms of 
reference, draft scope (the areas of work which reviews are expected to cover), 
the number of Councillors on the Panels and appoint the Panel’s Chair. Any 
person can propose a scrutiny review, they could be suggestions from 
Councillors, officers or members of the public.  

4.29 Reviews should be Councillor led, with the finding report produced in close 
collaborative working between the Panel’s Chair and the support officer. 

4.30 Since 2014/15 the Commission has received 12 scrutiny proposals and 
undertaken the following scrutiny reviews:

 Recording How Members Vote – Panel Size: 5 plus subs, Number of 
Meetings: 3

 Fairness Commission – Panel Size: 5 Number of Meetings: 7
 Crawley Leisure Card – Panel Size: 5 Number of Meetings: 3
 Review of Democratic Structures – Panel Size: 7 Number of Meetings: 8

4.31 Joint Scrutiny Arrangements – The OSC also works in a formal but flexible joint 
scrutiny arrangement, with the other West Sussex authorities, and has done so 
since 2011, on cross boundaries issues, via the West Sussex Joint Task and 
Finish Group. 

4.32 The last Joint Scrutiny Task and Finish Group investigated Housing Provision for 
Care Leavers, which lasted 6 months with 4 meetings and Crawley had one 
Councillor on the Panel. 

4.33 Councillor contribution to Scrutiny – Scrutiny needs Councillors to be active, 
interested and willing to go out and work on their own.  Councillors on Panels and 
the Commission are strongly encouraged to do their own research, visits or other 
relevant work and reporting. 

4.34 All OSC Members have an individual and collective responsibility to play an active 
part in scrutiny meetings by reading agenda papers and supporting information, 
contributing to discussions, asking questions, suggesting lines of enquiry, 
assessing evidence and producing recommendations.  

4.35 Non-Decision Making Groups and Panels – There are also a number of Working 
Groups which are normally advisory groups to the Cabinet. Many of these were set 
up for specific issues and they only meet when required.

Page 184 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



4.36 Budget Advisory Group (BAG) – 9 Councillors serve on BAG along with the 
Leader, who provides a strategic perspective, other Cabinet Members may also 
attend for areas relating to their portfolios. BAG’s role is to advise the Cabinet on 
the allocation of resources within the General Fund and Capital Programme, taking 
account of the Budget Strategy, Corporate Plan and other relevant information.

4.37 Economic Regeneration Working Group (ERWG) – 11 Councillors serve on the 
ERWG. Its role is to receive and provide guidance on economic regeneration 
initiatives and actions across the Borough, including delivery of the Town Centre 
Regeneration Programme, the delivery of individual economic regeneration 
schemes and partnership activities within the Manor Royal Business District.

4.38 Town Hall Members’ Working Group – 7 Councillors serve on the THMWG, its 
role is to focus on the Town Hall element of the proposed development and within 
this primarily, although not exclusively, the requirements for Councillors’ facilities 
and the civic areas of the new building.

4.39 Local Plan Working Group (LPWG) – 13 Councillors serve on the LPWG, its role 
is to consider and provide guidance on the process for reviewing the Local Plan 
and support the Local Plan Review to examination, if/when this is progressed. 

4.40 Member Development Executive Support Group (MDESG) – 5 Councillors serve 
on the MDESG and its role is to provide all party support for a coordinated 
approach to Councillor development and training across the Council. 

4.41 Employees Joint Consultative Forum – Consists of all 7 Cabinet Members and is 
the formal discussion forum between the Council and its employees, represented 
by the Unions.

4.42 Councillor attendance at Committees, Scrutiny panels and working groups in the 
municipal year 2016/2017 is shown below.

No of 
members

No of 
meetings

Potential 
attendance

Actual 
attendance

(%) 
attendance

Full Council 37 6 222 213 96%
Planning Committee 15 13 156 128 82%
Cabinet 7 6 42 39 93%
Cabinet Briefing 7 6 42 38 90%
Licensing Committee 15 2 30 27 90%
Licensing Sub-Committee* 3 2 6 6 100%
Audit Committee 5 4 20 18 90%
Governance Committee 11 3 33 30 91%
Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission 11 9 99 85 86%

Appointments and 
investigating Committee* 6 3 18 18 100%

Democratic Services 
Structures Scrutiny Panel 6 2 12 10 83%

Crawley Leisure Card 
Scrutiny Panel 5 1 5 5 100%

Town Hall Working Group 10 5 50 35 70%
Budget Advisory Group 7 2 14 7 50%
Town Centre Working 
Group 7 4 28 17 61%

* Only meets when required and membership is selected from a pool of Members

Page 194 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



5. Representative Role and Workloads

5.1 The role of Councillors in Crawley is varied, it is much more than attending 
Committee meetings.  It is for each Councillor to decide how to organise their 
work. Councillors not only have responsibilities to the Council but to their 
respective wards. A significant portion of their time, and a very important part of 
their role, is spent representing and engaging with members of the public in their 
respective wards.  This involves engaging with local communities, representing 
their views, responding to casework from constituents thereby maintaining a link 
between the users and providers of Council and other public services.  There is 
liaison with other tiers of Local Government, actively addressing local issues and 
concerns, supporting local community events together with involvement in 
community meetings.  Effective representation ensures that local people have a 
voice and can influence decisions that are made that affect them or in their area.

5.2 There is no hard and fast way in which Councillors engage with their constituents. 
The amount of work currently depends on the degree of visibility that each 
Councillor chooses to have.  The most common ways of engagement appear to 
be by email, in person, telephone, through social media and holding meetings or 
surgeries.  There are a number of neighbourhood Forums/Community Groups 
across Crawley which Councillors often regularly attend.

5.3 The Forums/Community groups provide a key link between the Councillors and 
local residents that meet on a regular basis to discuss issues that affect them.  All 
Councillors are issued with either a tablet/netbook, smartphone or computer post-
election together with CBC email addresses and it is through these that the 
majority of communication with constituents is carried out.  The process for 
dealing with casework varies, some Councillors will have the experience, skills 
and knowledge to resolve constituents’ issues whereas others will refer issues 
directly to officers.  Councillors receive support from officers and other Councillor 
colleagues and their political Group in carrying out their duties in relation to their 
casework and representational role including liaison with the Senior Management 
Team and close links with the Democratic Services Team, as well as links to key 
information contained in documents such as the Constitution and information that 
is held on the Council’s web.

5.4 The role of Councillors within the community has changed over time.  The public 
can now more readily find the answers to some of their queries on the internet, 
however they will still engage with their local Councillor on more general local 
issues where there is a need for liaison or in relation to community events.  The 
increased use of emails and social media has resulted in the public expecting 
their Councillor to be instantly contactable.  In 2015/2016, as part of the work on 
Members’ allowances, Councillors were invited to complete a survey of the time 
spent on Council activities in an average week.

Page 204 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



50% of Councillors completed that survey, a short summary of the results are set 
out below:-

Activity Hours
 Average

Work with constituents 4.15

Representing community interests 2.4

Work with outside bodies 2.0

Attending meetings both formal and informal 5.3

Preparing for meetings 3.15

Background reading 2.3

Liaising with officers 1.4

Party political work (directly related to the role of  a Councillor) 2.45

5.5 As part of the Council’s consideration of its submission on Council size, a survey 
of Councillors has been undertaken regarding time spent in their role as 
Councillors on formal Council business, partnerships, outside bodies; and time 
spent by Councillors in their representational role in and on behalf of their 
communities. The Survey consisted of 6 questions and a comments section. 21 
out of the 37 Councillors have completed the survey. Councillors were asked 
specific questions in relation to the average number of hours they spent per week 
on:

(a) Preparing for and sitting and sitting on formal /informal Council meetings, 
partner organisations and outside bodies to which members have been appointed 
to by the Council
(b) Positions which carry a special responsibility allowance i.e. Cabinet Member, 
Chair, Vice Chair etc 
(c) Constituency matters which cover a range of issues
(d) Time spent on their community role

5.6 A table summarising the results of the survey is set out below:

Time spent on meeting activities Average Hours Per week
Attendance at formal/informal Council 
meetings, Partner Organisations and 
outside bodies

7.6

Preparation for these meetings 4.6
Research/Background reading 4.1
Other (e.g. meetings with officers) 1
Total average hours per week 19.5

Page 214 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



Time spent on Local Community Role Average Hours 
Community Development work 4.6
Responding to Residents queries 4.5
Community Events 3.5
Other local councils 5.7
Party political work 3.8
Total average hours per week 22.1

Time spent by holder of special 
responsibility allowances (eg Cabinet  
Member, Chair, Leader of the 
opposition, Mayor, Deputy Mayor) on 
these functions only 

Number of respondents 

More than 30 hours per week 1
Between 26 and 30 hours per week 0
Between 21-25 hours per week 2
Between 16-20 hours per week 2
Between 11-15 hours per week 1
Between 6-10 hours per week 3
Between 1-5 hours per week 2

5.7 The results of this survey demonstrate an increased average number of hours 
spent on Council business by councillors compared to the 2015/16 survey.

6. Outside Bodies

6.1 The Council appoints Councillors to a number of outside bodies, these 
appointments are made at the Council’s Annual Meeting each year, in addition 
the Cabinet also makes a number of appointments. A list of the current 53 outside 
bodies are set out in the Annex B. 88 Councillors serve on those 53 bodies. In 
2017/2018 a Scrutiny Panel will be established to review outside bodies and 
organisations.

6.2 The proposed scope of the Review will be to evaluate the current system and to 
consider how it adds value to the Council.  

7. The Future

7.1 In terms of Governance arrangements, following the introduction of the Localism 
Act 2011, a review of the Council’s democratic structures was undertaken by way 
of a Scrutiny Review. The Review of Democratic Structures Scrutiny Panel was 
established in October 2015 to assess the Council’s current governance 
arrangements. The Panel’s remit was to consider whether the Council would be 
better served by retaining a Cabinet system of governance or adopting a system 
of Committees.  As part of the remit of the Panel, the Panel considered the 
current position of governance at the Council –

 The key attributes for an effective governance system;
 Considerations of the drivers for change;
 Consideration of improvements to the current system.

Page 224 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



7.2 The Review concluded in 2016. The Panel’s recommendation to Full Council was 
to retain the current model of governance i.e. strong leader model with a Leader 
and Cabinet Executive.

7.3 In looking at the Council’s current governance structures, Councillors can be 
categorised as:

(i) Cabinet Members (7)
(ii) Scrutiny members (15)
(iii) Backbench and opposition Councillors

7.4 Currently Councillors wear multiple ‘hats’ and sit on regulatory Committees whilst 
being a Cabinet Member:
5 Cabinet Members sit on the Governance Committee (11)
1 Cabinet Member sits on the Licensing Committee (15)
4 Cabinet Members sit on the Planning Committee (15)

7.5 The current governance structure of a Leader and Cabinet Executive model is to 
remain unchanged for the foreseeable future.

7.6 There have been a number of major financial pressures on the Revenue Budget 
since the start of the financial crisis in 2008/09. In common with all local 
authorities there have been significant reductions in Government grant, 
reductions that will continue in the coming years with no Revenue Support Grant 
being received from the financial year 2020/21. Income from investments has 
fallen due to low interest rates. At the same time the costs of demand led 
services, such as homelessness and benefits payments, have increased. 
Financial challenges for the future will continue.

7.7 The Council’s approach has been to seek to maintain or enhance levels of 
service whilst keeping Council Tax increases to a minimum. This has been 
achieved in a number of ways, including redesigning services, delivering 
efficiency savings and generating new sources of income. 

7.8 The Council works in partnership with Horsham and Mid Sussex District Council 
for the delivery of a joint procurement service, with Horsham for Building Control, 
and with Mid Sussex Council for the provision of Audit services.

7.9 In 2016 The Council and West Sussex County Council signed an agreement to 
work together on delivering key strategic projects. Both Councils are focused on 
these key projects. These include:

 Regenerating Crawley town centre
 A Manor Royal Improvement Programme
 Closer working with Gatwick airport
 Work to improve resident skills and employability in the Crawley area.

7.10 In September a substantial Local Growth fund of £14.64 million was confirmed by 
the Coast to Capital LEP for this significant regeneration programme. The Council 
works with a number of partners and recently accepted an invitation to join the 
Greater Brighton Board (The City Region).  Proposals are in hand to redevelop 
the Town Hall site which will include new homes, a new Town Hall together with 
commercial offices.  Moving to the New Town Hall will provide the emphasis to 

Page 234 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



steer the Council to digital transformation, the development of innovative new 
ways of working to meet the needs of the business and our customers and 
developing a more commercial approach as to how the Council operates.

8. Electorate Forecast and Electorate/Councillor Ratio

8.1 A significant increase in the electorate is anticipated over the next few years.  
Current projections indicate that the September 2017 electorate of 79,887 is 
expected to rise to 84,801 by 2023 as the population of Crawley grows, the needs 
of residents will continue to grow with increased demand for some services.  
Councillors will therefore need to be equipped with the right skills to work with 
residents to ensure that they continue to provide them with support and 
representation to all sections of the community.

8.2 With the current Council size of 37, the ratio of electors to Councillors is 2159:1 at 
September 2017, and is forecast to rise to the 2291:1 in 2023. 

8.3 At the time of the last review of electoral arrangements in Crawley, held in 2002, 
the ratio was 1976:1, and forecast to rise to 2076:1 by 2006. The ratio since 2010 
is set out below:

Electoral Register Published Electorate Number of electors per Councillor
2001 Electorate for 2002 review 73,123 1976

2010 75,415 2038
2011 78,516 2122
2012 79,512 2149
2014 79,754 2156

2015 (end of transition to 
individual registration) 75,577 2043

2016 76,751 2074

Council Size Options 

8.4 The Councillor Working Group has considered two options – reducing Council 
size or increasing Council size. Retaining the existing size of 37 is not an option 
as Crawley elects one third of Councillors each year and current legislation 
legalisation requires a Council size divisible by 3.

8.5 The Working Group agreed that the number of Councillors needed to manage the 
business of the Council and the Councillors’ representational work would be 
broadly similar to the current number. It would therefore be necessary to maintain 
the elector ration. A Council size of 33 was considered too few by the Working 
Group as this would lead to an electorate ratio of 2569:1. Concern was also 
expressed about the resulting reduction in size of the pool of members to 
participate in executive functions.

8.6 When considering 36 as an appropriate size, concern was expressed about the 
impact an even number would have on the provision of effective and convenient 
local government. The close political balance of Crawley has been demonstrated 
in the results of a number of elections since the last boundary review. The 
Working Group considered that it was very likely that this balanced situation 

Page 244 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



would continue. An even number of Councillors could lead to a period of 
ineffective local government. A table showing the balance since the last review is 
shown below:

8.7 Crawley Borough Council administration majority by year

Year Majority
2004 1
2006 1
2007 7
2008 15
2010 15
2011 11
2012 5
2014 2
2015 1
2016 3

8.8 The survey of Councillors’ workload summarised at 5.6 has identified an 
increasing amount of time spent on casework, responding and engaging with the 
community. There is both a greater opportunity for access afforded by social 
media and electronic communication, but also an increasing amount of social 
need. There is a need to ensure that the electorate ratio is maintained to so that 
the council is equipped to meet these challenges

8.9 The Working Group therefore considered that a Council size of 39 would be most 
suitable. This would give an electorate ratio of 2174:1. This is the option that most 
closely maintains the current ratio.

Comparisons with statistical neighbours

8.10 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy model nearest 
statistical neighbours gives the following Councils as statistical neighbours for 
Crawley:

CIPFA 
rank

Council Electorate 
at Dec 2016

Number of 
councillors

Number of 
electors per 
councillor

1 Dartford  76,205 44 1,732
2 Harlow  62,279 33 1,887
3 Stevenage  63,664 39 1,632
4 Rushmoor  66,900 39 1,715
5 Watford  69,666 36 1,935
6 Oxford  100,148 48 2,086
7 Welwyn Hatfield  79,397 48 1,654
8 Basildon  133,845 42 3,187
9 Redditch  62,409 29 2,152
10 Corby  48,605 29 1,676
11 Gloucester  90,788 39 2,328
12 Cambridge  85,540 42 2,037
13 Ipswich  94,408 48 1,967
14 Exeter  86,678 39 2,223
15 Northampton  155,224 45 3,449

Page 254 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



8.11 The average number of Councillors in this group is a Council size of 40 and the 
average ratio of electors per Councillor is 2111:1. This a close match with the 
Working Group’s preferred option of 39 for Crawley.

9. Conclusions

9.1 Having considered the Council’s current and future governance arrangements, 
scrutiny functions, the representational role of Councillors together with their level 
of casework, it is the view of the Council that the Council Size for Crawley 
Borough Council should be 39.

9.2 The proposed number of Councillors will maintain the current electorate ratio in 
the face of a growing population.

9.3 Elected Councillors are often dealing with higher volumes of casework as 
evidenced the survey. Increasingly social media and new communication tools 
enable more frequent direct contact with the community and this proposal will 
enable councillors to be well placed to respond to these opportunities.

9.4 A Council size of 39 will ensure that the Council is able to continue deliver 
services to residents and discharge its decision making functions in an effective 
way, ensuring that the increased population will not impact adversely on 
Councillor workload, making sure that becoming a Councillor is attractive to those 
from a wide variety of background and lifestyles to reflect the community.

Page 264 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



Annex A

CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITIES

Leader of the Council

Chair of the Cabinet

General Direction of Policy and its expression in the Corporate Statement (in liaison with the 
appropriate Cabinet Member) 

including co-ordination of the Council’s objectives, policies and priorities and overall supervision 
of the organisation of the Council and its management processes

Community Leadership and, in conjunction with the Cabinet Member for Public Protection and 
Community Engagement, the preparation of a Community Strategy and the development of 
Community Planning

Internal and External Communications including dissemination of public information and the 
conduct of public relations

Overview of Human Resources

Civil Contingencies (including emergency planning)

Plans and preparations for fulfilling the Council’s duties and responsibilities in relation to 
peacetime and wartime emergencies and the gathering of information relevant to the Council’s 
civil defence obligations

The constant review of those emergency plans and preparations to ensure that they are at all 
times ready for effective implementation

Democratic renewal of the Council’s own structures and procedures

Arrangements for official and courtesy visits to and from the Borough

Internal and External Audit and Audit Commission Report

Finance 

Page 274 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



Leader of the Council

including functions of the Council relating to rating, Business Rates and Council Tax.  Funds and 
investment management.

Formulation of the Budget.

Regulation of the exercise of the borrowing powers of the Council.

Prevention and detection of fraud.

Responding to the Government’s Welfare Reform agenda with the Cabinet Member for Housing

Strategic neighbourhood regeneration

Regional Governance / Development

Specific Delegations:

(1) Approval of the Council’s Debt Management Strategy

(2) Approval of the Council Tax Base

(3) Approval of the NNDR1 (National Non-Domestic Rates Return)

(4) Authority to make appointments to Outside Bodies relating to Cabinet functions

(5) Approval of the utilisation of the planning delivery grant and the housing and planning 
delivery grant

(6) Authority to approve the transfer of residual land on terms proposed by the Asset 
Manager

(7) Authority to approve the use of any underspend on a capital scheme, up to a total value of 
£500,000, on further work associated with the scheme during the same financial year, 
subject to the Council not being committed to expenditure in future years above the 
existing budgetary provision

(8) Approval of feasibility scheme and final implementation proposals for neighbourhood 
centre improvements which are in accordance with the Capital Programme

(9) Authority to approve the submission of bids to an agreed maximum figure when a 
property becomes available at auction where the price would be over the delegated 
authority limits (currently £500,000) subject to it being:

a) For investment purposes, to there being sufficient funds in the Investment 
Acquisition Reserve and it being in accordance with the guidance criteria set out in 
section 7 of report FIN/306 (Budget Strategy 2014/15-2018/19) to the Cabinet and 
Full Council on 10 and 24 July 2013 respectively.

b) For residential property purposes, to there being sufficient funds in the HRA 
Development Programme and to be agreed on a case by case basis and in 
accordance with the guidelines set out in report FIN/328 (2014/15 Budget and 
Council Tax) to the Cabinet and Full Council on 12 and 26 February 2014.

(10) The approval of the writing off of irrecoverable debts exceeding £2,500 but not exceeding 
£50,000, in accordance with the agreed protocol for debt collection.

Page 284 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



Leader of the Council

(11) Authority to approve the transfer of Section 106 monies between £100,000 and £500,000 
to West Sussex County Council which have been collected specifically for spend categories 
within the County Council remit.

Membership to Outside Bodies:

 Local Economy Action group (observer)

 Gatwick Diamond

 Local Government Association (General Assembly)

 District Councils Network

 West Sussex Co-operative

 Coast to Capital Joint Committee

 Sussex Police and Crime Panel (member or substitute)

Cabinet Member for Environmental Services and Sustainability

Public and Environmental Health

 Maintenance of closed churchyards
 Health and Safety (other than CBC employees) including food safety, noise and air 

pollution control. 
 Gatwick Airport Port Health

Cemeteries and Burials

 Management of cemeteries and burials
 Shared responsibilities for providing emergency mortuaries following large scale 

disasters. 

Flood Prevention and Land Drainage

 Preparing and implementing land drainage and flood prevention capital schemes
 Maintenance and emergency response works. 

Waste Management, Refuse and Recycling

 Management of the Waste and Recycling Contract
 Reducing the amount of household refuse and increasing rates of recycling as a 

proportion of household refuse. 

Page 294 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



Cabinet Member for Environmental Services and Sustainability

Streetscene

 Maintenance of the streetscene including control of litter, dog waste, fly tipping,, graffiti 
and vegetation (grass, shrubs and trees), street furniture. 

 Abandoned vehicles
 Environmental / street improvement schemes
 Delivery of Section 106 cycle path improvement schemes

Asset Management

 Management, maintenance and income collection associated with Council owned car 
parks

 Management and maintenance of Council owned public conveniences

Enforcement

 Community Wardens
 Civil Parking Enforcement
 Licensing Policy
 Gambling Policy

Lead Cabinet Member for Climate Change and Sustainability

 Delivery of action plan linked to Carbon Reduction Strategy including Council lead for 
sustainable transport.  

Specific Delegations

 The approval of feasibility schemes and the implementation of proposals for residential 
environmental improvements which are in accordance with the Capital Programme

 Naming and numbering of streets
 The approval of criteria for the prioritisation of flood alleviation schemes including 

project allocation, programme and final implementation proposals for flood alleviation 
schemes subject to the projects being achievable within the limits of the approved 
financial budget of the capital programme. 

Membership of Outside Bodies
 Gatwick Airport Joint Authorities Committee
 Inter Authority Waste Group
 Patrol Adjudication Committee
 Gatwick Airport Consultative Committee (GATCOM)

Page 304 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



Cabinet Member for Housing

Deputy Leader of the Council

Crawley Homes - Landlord Role

The provision, management and control of Council dwellings 

including rents

Management and development of Council land held for housing purposes

Housing administration

Control of empty housing properties

Housing Strategic Role (including statutory functions)

Provision of housing advice, homelessness service and maintenance of housing register

Assessment of housing need and management of Housing Strategy

Release of funds to Housing Associations under the LAHAG programme in respect of schemes 
included in the approved capital programme

Unfit properties and houses in need of repair and improvement, houses in multiple occupation, 
the abatement of overcrowding and improvement grants

Joint working with the Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Development to meet the 
housing needs of the borough

General oversight of local housing issues

Liaison and Joint Working with Social Services and Health (in relation to housing issues)

Council Tax Reductions and Housing Benefit

Responding to the Government’s Welfare Reform agenda with the Leader of the Council

Page 314 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



Cabinet Member for Housing

Specific Delegations:

(1) Power to vary the rent of dwellings and garages held on the Housing Revenue Account

(2) The approval of variations to the affordable housing requirements specified in Core 
Strategy Policy H5 for any housing scheme where it has been evidenced that scheme 
viability cannot support meeting these requirements in full, or where changes in housing 
needs of housing policy may justify any variation to the percentage and/or tenure mix 
being sought

(3) To discharge the functions of the Council in relation to the appropriation of surplus land 
(excluding residential dwellings) from the Housing Revenue Account for a different 
use/purpose

Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Development

Lead Cabinet Member for Education, Skills and Transport

Town and Country Planning

Local Plan

Building regulation and building control

Issues relating to access to the countryside

Closure/diversion of footpaths, bridleways and highways

Provision of resources for enforcement of decisions taken by the Planning Committee

Transport Planning

including public transport and liaison with public transport operators

Transportation policies, including liaison with the highway authority on their development, 
traffic management and car parking

Responding to consultations on proposed traffic regulation orders

Concessionary Travel and liaison with local bus companies

Economic Development

Town Centre Management and Regeneration

Christmas illuminations

Page 324 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Development

Issues of business and employment development within the Borough including training

Marketing and promotion of the Borough and tourism

Gatwick Strategy

Liaison with County Council and Neighbouring District Councils on Planning and Highways

Formulation of Green Space Strategy (The implementation of the Green Space Strategy remains 
with the Cabinet Member for Wellbeing)

Heritage Strategy (the Strategy will fall within the responsibilities of several Cabinet Members, 
however the Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Development will provide a co-
ordinating role)

Property and Construction

Asset Management Strategy

All non-operational assets included in the Assets Register

Corporate Strategy for the maintenance, management and development of the Council’s 
corporate estate 

Terms for the acquisition, disposal and appropriation of land (excluding right to buy / rent to 
mortgage and shared ownership schemes for Housing Revenue Account dwellings)

Property Strategy

Specific Delegations:

(1) The adoption of new Conservation Area Statements and amendments to existing 
Conservation Area Statements

(2) The adoption of new Conservation Area Statements and amendments to existing 
Conservation Area Statements

(3) The adoption of new Heritage Statements and amendments to existing Heritage 
Statements

(4) Approval of the annual programme of building maintenance works for operational 
properties (excluding housing assets) including variations during the year to meet 
changing needs.  Delegation to cover all types of maintenance work and small-scale 
improvements above £100,000 per job

Page 334 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Development

Membership to Outside Bodies:

 Local Economy Action Group (voting member)

 Gatwick Airport Joint Authorities Meeting

 Gatwick Diamond Local Authorities Members’ Group

 Manor Royal Business Group

 Manor Royal Management Group

 Manor Royal Board

 Sussex Building Control

 Town Centre Partnership

 West Sussex Joint Planning Board

 Bus Company Meetings

Cabinet Member for Public Protection and Community Engagement

Community Engagement and Development

Preparation of a Community Strategy and the development of Community Planning (including a 
Public Consultation Strategy and the investigation of Area / Neighbourhood Forums)

Community and Neighbourhood Development

Community Safety

Community Safety Improvement Schemes

Grants to Voluntary Bodies

Equal Opportunities

Promotion of equality of opportunity and the tackling of economic inequality

Social Inclusion Strategy

Prevent Strategy

Lead Cabinet Member for crime, policing, and fire and rescue Services

Page 344 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



Cabinet Member for Public Protection and Community Engagement

Lead Cabinet Member on issues relating to travellers

Children and Young People (including joint working with Youth Services and Youth Development 
Initiatives and the Council’s responsibilities defined under Section 11 (Safeguarding) of the 
Children’s Act 2004)

Town Twinning

Specific Delegations:

(1) To determine applications for main grants (i.e. currently above £5,000) by voluntary 
organisations in accordance with the criteria previously agreed by Cabinet

(2) The approval of criteria for the prioritisation of community safety improvement schemes

(3) The approval of an annual programme of community safety schemes subject to the 
proposals being achievable within the limits of the approved financial budget

Membership to Outside Bodies:

 Safer Crawley Partnership Executive

 Sussex Police and Crime Panel (member or substitute)

Cabinet Member for Resources

Political Liaison

Democratic Services (excluding elections)

including the Committee service and liaising with the Local Government Ombudsman

Legal Services

including advice to the Council across the range of Council functions and provision of the 
statutory land charges service to members of the public

Fostering Interest in Local Government

Promoting interest in and understanding of Local Government

Page 354 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



Cabinet Member for Resources

Member Services

- Member Training and Development 

Provision of resources for enforcement of decisions taken by the Licensing Committee

Performance Management

Service Review Programme (except individual reviews)

Systems Thinking and other improvement methodologies

Service channel shifts

Human Resource Strategy

including recruitment and retention policy,

conditions of service

employees health, safety and welfare

Overview of Customer Service and Complaints

E Government and IT Strategies

Improvement Planning Champion

Service Responsibilities:

Information Technology

Web team

Human Resources including staffing budget

Equal Opportunities Policy relating to employment

Town Hall building management/office accommodation

Reprographics and Stationery

Page 364 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



Cabinet Member for Resources

Civic Hall 

Procurement 

Finance

Risk management

Insurance matters

Policy for developing service plans

Customer Contact Centre

Data Protection and Freedom of Information

Partnership working with other Councils and shared service provision

Specific Delegations:

(1) To approve the Corporate Equality Statement
(2) Approval of the Council’s Risk Management Strategy

Cabinet Member for Wellbeing

Lead Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing

Arts (including The Hawth, community arts, promotions and entertainments, public art and 
bandstand) 

Museums and art galleries

Sport and fitness (including sports development, playing fields, Broadfield Stadium and Leisure 
Centres)

Amenity Services

Parks, gardens and open spaces

Land held for recreational and open space purposes

Liaison and Joint Working with Education

Page 374 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



Cabinet Member for Wellbeing

Libraries liaison

Community Centres

Allotments

Nature conservation/arboriculture

Play service and playgrounds

Implementation of Green Space Strategy (The formulation of the Green Space Strategy remains 
with the Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Development)

Membership to Outside Bodies:

 Gatwick Greenspace Partnership

Page 384 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



Annex B

Outside Bodies

Total of Outside bodies – 53*

Total number of Councillor on those Bodies – 88* 

(*Both Full Council and Executive Appointments) 

Outside Bodies – Council Appointments

Age UK – West Sussex Trustee Board - One Councillor representative

General Council of Broadfield Youth and Community Centre (BYCC) - One Councillor 
representative

Buchan Country Park Advisory Board - Four Councillor representatives

Greater Brighton Economic Board - One Councillor representative 

Central Crawley Conservation Area Advisory Committee - Four Councillor representatives 

Forestfield and Shrublands Conservation Area Advisory Committee - Two Councillor 
representatives

Hazelwick Road Conservation Area Committee - Two Councillor representatives 

Ifield Village Conservation Area Advisory Committee - Five Councillor representatives

Southgate Conservation Area Advisory Committee - Three Councillor representatives

Worth Conservation Area Advisory Committee - Three Councillor representatives

Community Needs Partnership - Six Councillor representatives

Courage Dyer Recreational Trust - Four Councillor representatives (on a four year term of office)

Crawley & Ifield Education Foundation - One Councillor representative

Crawley Arts Council (CAC) - Three Councillor representatives

Crawley Community and Voluntary Service Trustee Board - Two Councillor representatives 

Crawley Ethnic Minority Partnership (CEMP) Partnership Board - One Councillor representative 

Crawley Museum Society (and Crawley Museum Project Board) - Four Councillor 
representatives

Crawley Open House Management Committee - Two Councillor representatives 

Crawley Town FC Travel Plan Steering Group - Six Councillor representatives 

Crawley Town Twinning Association(CTTA) - Four Councillor representatives

Friends of Broadfield Park - One Councillor representative

Friends of Goffs Park (FoGP) - Two Councillor representatives 

Page 394 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



Outside Bodies – Council Appointments

Gatwick Airport Community Trust (GACT) - One Councillor representative (on a four year term)

Relate - North & South West Sussex Trustee Board - One Councillor representative

Court of the University of Sussex - One Councillor representative

West Sussex Health and Adult Social Care Select Committee - One Councillor representative

West Sussex Joint Scrutiny Steering Group - One Councillor representative

West Sussex Mediation Service Management Committee - One Councillor representative (and a 
deputy)

Outside Bodies – Executive (Cabinet) Appointments

Bus Company Meetings - One Councillor representative

Coast to Capital Joint Committee - One Councillor representative

Crawley Cycling Forum - One Councillor representative

Gatwick Airport Consultative Committee (GATCOM) - One Councillor representative (and a 
deputy)

Gatwick Airport Joint Authorities Meeting - Two Councillor representatives

Gatwick Diamond - One Councillor representative

Gatwick Diamond Local Authorities Members’ Group - One Councillor representative

Gatwick Greenspace Partnership - One Councillor representative

High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Forum – Joint Advisory Committee - One 
Councillor representative 

Inter Authority Waste Group - One Councillor representative

Local Economy Action Group - One Councillor representative

LGA: - District Councils Network - One Councillor representative

LGA: - General Assembly - One Councillor representative

Manor Royal Business District (MRBD) Ltd - One Councillor representative

Manor Royal Board - One Councillor representative

Manor Royal Management Group - One Councillor representative

Patrol Adjudication Joint Committee - One Councillor representative 

Safer Crawley Partnership Executive - One Councillor representative

Strategic Aviation Special Interest Group - One Councillor representative 

Sussex Building Control - One Councillor representative

Page 404 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



Outside Bodies – Executive (Cabinet) Appointments

Sussex Police and Crime Panel - One Councillor representative

Town Centre Partnership - One Councillor representative 

West Sussex Forum for Accessible Transport - One Councillor representative 

West Sussex Joint Planning Board - One Councillor representative

West Sussex Co-operative - One Councillor representative 

Page 414 Appendix a
Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



CRAWLEY 2023 ELECTORATE FORECAST: METHODOLOGY STATEMENT

1. BACKGROUND
1.1 The main factor driving changes to the number and distribution of electors in 

Crawley over the 2017-23 period is expected to be the amount and location of 
new housing developments. 

1.2 Levels of future population growth in Crawley and in the wider North West 
Sussex Housing Market Area (HMA) have recently been subject to detailed 
discussion during the Examinations in Public of the Crawley Borough Local 
Plan 2015-30, the Horsham District Planning Framework 2011-31, and the Mid 
Sussex District Plan 2014-31. These have established clearly that there is 
insufficient land within Crawley to accommodate the population growth which is 
projected to arise within the borough over the period 2015-30. To allow for this, 
provision is made in the Horsham District Planning Framework and in the 
proposed draft of the Mid Sussex District Plan for additional housing over and 
above the amount required to provide for the anticipated needs of each district.

1.3 In light of this situation, population growth within Crawley over the period 2015-
30 may in fact be below current projections based purely on demographic 
trends, as individuals and families unable to find housing within the borough 
instead find accommodation elsewhere, particularly in Horsham or Mid Sussex 
districts. Estimates of growth in the electorate over the period 2017-23 should 
therefore be derived primarily from the anticipated supply of housing, rather 
than from the population projected on the basis of demographic trends.

2. HOUSING SUPPLY 2017-23
Proposed Approach
2.1 The approach taken has been to try to identify what housing is ‘likely’ to be 

delivered during the period 2017-23. This has been taken to include:
1. Extant planning permissions (including prior approvals).
2. Housing developments for which the Council has resolved to grant planning 

permission subject to completion of a planning obligation (S106 agreement).
3. Housing which is forecast in the Council’s Local Plan Housing Trajectory to 

be delivered within the period in question.
4. Other CBC schemes which are being promoted corporately and have been 

subject to public consultation (the Town Hall; Dobbins Place, Ifield).

Windfall Sites
2.2 The Local Plan Housing Trajectory includes a ‘windfall’ allowance of 55 

dwellings on average per annum (amounting to 330 over six years), which are 
anticipated to come forward on sites which have not yet been identified.

2.3 Ordinarily such windfalls could not by definition be allocated to particular sites 
and polling districts. In this case, however, roughly half the figure represented 
an allowance for office-to-residential schemes benefiting from prior approval.1 
These were included as an overall allowance, rather than as specific sites, 
within the Housing Trajectory, because the relevant permitted development 
rights were relatively new at the time of the Local Plan examination, and the 
likelihood of individual schemes coming forward was considered difficult to 
assess. 

1 ‘Establishing a windfall allowance for the Local Plan period (2015-30)’, Crawley Borough 
Council: 2014, Table 4.

Page 434 Appendix b
Agenda Item 4

http://www.crawley.gov.uk/pw/web/PUB228450
http://www.crawley.gov.uk/pw/web/PUB228450


2.4 Now a significant number of prior approval schemes within Crawley have been 
completed or are under construction. It therefore seems reasonable, in 
identifying specific sites for likely housing growth, to include schemes 
benefitting from this sort of permission. 

2.5 By including these as specific sites, this approach would reduce the residual 
anticipated windfall figure to about 27 dwellings per annum (162 dwellings in 
total). This represents a small proportion of the projected housing delivery on 
identified sites in the 2017-23 period, so it is not considered that unidentified 
windfalls pose a significant risk to the accuracy of the forecast. The risks of the 
proposed approach are therefore mainly concerned with the failure of 
developments to come forward in the form and at the time anticipated.

3. FUTURE POPULATION ESTIMATES
Dwelling Totals
3.1 The first step in estimating a population for a likely housing development is to 

establish dwelling totals for the sites falling within categories 1 to 4 identified 
above. A net additional total of 3894 dwellings is projected using the proposed 
method. 3147 (81 per cent) of this total is based on dwelling totals included in 
detailed schemes falling under categories 1, 2, and 4, and can therefore be 
counted with a relative degree of confidence. (Where multiple and mutually 
exclusive schemes exist for a given site, the one with the higher dwelling total, 
which is also almost always the most recent one, is used.)

3.2 The remaining 748 dwellings (19 per cent of the identified total) relate to sites 
which are identified in the Housing Trajectory, but for which no detailed 
proposals are currently being advanced. These figures are estimates based on 
varying levels of detailed assessment. In some cases (e.g. Zurich House, Oak 
Tree Filling Station) they are derived from previous planning permissions, or 
else from applications which were refused purely on the basis of failure to 
agree planning obligations. Other sites are subject to Development Briefs 
which are now adopted (Tinsley Lane), have been consulted on (Land East of 
Street Hill), or are being prepared for consultation (Breezehurst Drive Playing 
Fields). In other cases the figures used in the Housing Trajectory are estimates 
based on high-level assessments of site capacity.

3.3 The overall dwelling total of 3894 equates to 649 dwellings per annum during 
the six year period in question. This is significantly in excess of the supply-
based Local Plan annual average housing requirement of 340 dwellings per 
annum, and equates to about 96 per cent Crawley’s annual average housing 
need for the period (i.e. 675 dwellings per annum), as identified in the Local 
Plan. The forecast thus covers a period in which Crawley will be delivering 
housing at a rate close to the level of housing need. Whereas, in the later part 
of the period, it is expected that delivery will tail off significantly, leaving a large 
overall shortfall to be met elsewhere, outside the borough boundaries, within 
the Housing Market Area.  

Unoccupied Dwellings
3.4 It is considered appropriate to adjust the dwelling total figure to allow for the 

likely number of new dwellings which will have no regular occupants (for 
example, holiday homes). In order to do this the ratio of dwellings to 
households found in the 2011 census has been applied to the totals given 
above. 43,484 dwellings were recorded as against 42,727 households, 
amounting to a ratio of 1.018. This equates to around 1.74 per cent of the 
dwelling stock being unoccupied. This has been applied across the board, 

Page 444 Appendix b
Agenda Item 4



discounting each dwelling to 0.983 of a dwelling, on the assumption that each 
predicted new dwelling has an equal chance of being unoccupied. 

Dwelling Mix
3.5 In translating dwelling numbers into estimates of population it was considered 

appropriate to turn dwelling totals (discounted as just described) into bedroom 
totals. All predicted dwelling units have therefore been grouped into one of the 
following categories:
- 1-bedroom properties (including studios)
- 2-bedroom properties
- 3-bedroom properties
- 4-bedroom properties
- 5-or-more-bedroom properties 

3.6 For most of the sites where dwelling numbers are known, the development 
schemes are sufficiently detailed to provide this information. Bedroom numbers 
are thus known for 2371 (61 per cent) of the dwellings predicted. In the 
remaining cases a dwelling mix compliant with council planning policies has 
been estimated, i.e. using the following assumptions:
- 40% on site affordable housing
- Affordable housing on individual sites to meet the following dwelling mix, 

set out in the Reasoned Justification for Local Plan Policy H3 (Housing Mix)
o 25% 1 bedroom
o 50% 2 bedroom
o 20% 3 bedroom
o 5% 4+ bedroom2

- About 6% of the new market housing to enter the private rented sector, with 
the remaining 94% being owner occupied, as predicted in the 2016 ‘Market 
Housing Mix’ study for Crawley and Horsham.3 This distribution is assumed 
to apply evenly across sites.

- Owner occupied housing to meet the following dwelling mix, according to 
location, in line with need identified in in the 2016 ‘Housing Mix’ study4

Town Centre Outside Town Centre
1 bedroom 15% 10%
2 bedroom 45% 30%
3 bedroom 35% 35%
4+ bedroom5 5% 25%

- Private rented sector housing to meet the following dwelling mix, according 
to location, in line with need identified in in the 2016 ‘Housing Mix’ study6

Number of bedrooms Town Centre Outside Town Centre
1 20% 5%
2 40% 30%
3 35% 40%
4+ 5% 25%

2 These have been counted as 4 bedroom properties.
3 ‘Market Housing Mix: Crawley Borough Council and Horsham District Council’, Chilmark 
Consulting: 2016’, Tables 4.8 & 4.9.
4 ‘Market Housing Mix’, Tables 5.1 & 5.2
5 These have been counted as 4 bedroom properties.
6 ‘Market Housing Mix’, Tables 5.1 & 5.2

Page 454 Appendix b
Agenda Item 4

http://www.crawley.gov.uk/pw/web/PUB311637
http://www.crawley.gov.uk/pw/web/PUB311637


3.7 Using this approach, the breakdown of the 3895 dwelling total is as follows:

Number of bedrooms Total As a percentage
1 1422 36.5%
2 1554 39.9%
3 645 16.6%
4 270 6.9%
5+ 3 0.1%

3.8 Taking into account the adjustment for unoccupied dwellings the total number 
of bedrooms is 7428.

Population
3.9 Having made an adjustment for the possibility of dwellings being unoccupied, 

and having arrived at bedroom totals, it is necessary to arrive at projected 
numbers of actual occupants. The proposed approach here is to use the total 
ratio of population to bedrooms in occupied dwellings across the borough as 
recorded in the 2011 census, and then apply this at the level of individual sites.

3.10 In 2011, Crawley’s population was recorded as 106,597, and households within 
the borough occupied a total of 114,925 bedrooms.7 This represents a 
bedroom/person ratio of 1.078, or around 93 people for every 100 bedrooms. 
Applied to the bedroom total of 7428 (and with population numbers rounded to 
the nearest whole number at the level of individual sites) this generates a 
population figure of 6900. 

3.11 This figure exactly mirrors the population increase of 6900 which is projected 
on the basis of current demographic trends. Broadly this coincidence is 
considered to confirm the soundness of the proposed approach, although some 
unknowns remain about the interrelationship between demographic trends and 
housing delivery in this scenario. For example, the prediction set out above 
involves a net additional household total of 3826 over the period 2017-23, 
compared with a demographic projection of 3461. This disparity may reflect the 
fact that the demographic trends already include a supply-constrained rate of 
household formation on the basis of under-delivery of housing in previous 
years, which would increase with a higher rate of housing delivery. More 
directly it may reflect some mismatch between projected household sizes and 
the sizes of the households which will be able to inhabit the anticipated 
dwellings, with the predicted additional stock in Crawley tending towards 
smaller one- and two-bed dwellings.

3.12 Rather than crudely equating the increase predicted on the basis of 
demographic trends with the increase permitted by new developments, 
therefore, we would acknowledge that in the proposed scenario there could be 
some significant movement across district boundaries, with larger households 
unable to meet their needs within the district moving elsewhere, and smaller 
households from neighbouring areas moving into Crawley.

7 For the purposes of this exercise dwellings with no recorded bedrooms (i.e. presumably 
studios) are recorded as 1 bedroom properties, while any households with more than 5 
bedrooms are counted as having 5 bedrooms, reflecting the way in which they are recorded in 
the census.

Page 464 Appendix b
Agenda Item 4



4. ELECTORATE PREDICTION

4.1 The proposed approach for establishing totals of additional voters for 2023 is to 
compare the size of the electorate and population over recent years in order to 
establish a ratio which can then be applied at the level of individual 
developments.

4.2 The following table compares electorate totals from the period 2010-2016 with 
ONS mid-year population estimates for the relevant calendar year.8 Ratios are 
calculated in each case, and then averaged to provide the ratio to be used. It is 
considered that this approach has the advantage of allowing for fluctuations in 
the ratio reflecting the electoral cycle.

Electorate 
Date

Electorate 
Total

Applicable Population 
figure

Electorate/ 
Population Ratio

December 
2010 75,415 105,500 0.715

December 
2011 78,516 107,100 0.733

October 2012 79,512 108,300 0.734
February 2014 79,754 109,900 0.725
December 
2014 77,698 109,900 0.707

December 
2015 75,577 110,900 0.681

December 
2016 76,751 111,400 0.689

Total 543,223 763,000 0.712

4.3 By applying the average ratio of 0.712 to the estimated additional population in 
2023, and by rounding to the nearest whole number at the level of each 
development, a total additional electorate figure of 4914 is derived. The 
distribution of this total among polling districts and borough wards is shown 
below. For the breakdown of units, bedrooms, population and electors at the 
level of individual sites see Annex 2.

8 These are shown in time series at: 
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157342/subreports/pop_time_series/report.a
spx?

Page 474 Appendix b
Agenda Item 4

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157342/subreports/pop_time_series/report.aspx?
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157342/subreports/pop_time_series/report.aspx?


Polling 
District

Current Borough Ward Projected 
additional 
electorate 2017-23

LA Bewbush 143
LBB Broadfield North 20
LCB Broadfield South 3
LFA Ifield 252
LFB Ifield 2
LFC Ifield 16
LG Langley Green 6
LHA Maidenbower 4
LI Northgate 1106
LJA Pound Hill North 8
LJB Pound Hill North 1801
LKA Pound Hill South and Worth 2
LKC Pound Hill South and Worth 51
LLA Southgate 157
LLB Southgate 152
LLC Southgate 7
LMA Three Bridges 242
LMB Three Bridges 105
LMC Three Bridges 357
LNB Tilgate 173
LO West Green 307
All 4914

Page 484 Appendix b
Agenda Item 4



Annex 1: Predicted additional dwellings and population 2017-2023 by 
Ward

Borough Council Ward Predicted Total 
Dwellings

Predicted Total 
Population Increase

Bewbush Ward 89 201

Broadfield North 19 28

Broadfield South 1 4

Furnace Green Ward 0 0

Gossops Green Ward 0 0

Ifield Ward 202 379

Langley Green Ward 4 8

Maidenbower 3 5

Northgate Ward 1,065 1553

Pound Hill North Ward 1,148 2543

Pound Hill South & Worth Ward 25 74

Southgate Ward 298 443

Three Bridges Ward 644 1005

Tilgate Ward 100 225

West Green Ward 296 432

Totals 3,894 6,900

 

Page 494 Appendix b
Agenda Item 4



Annex 2: Predicted additional dwellings and population 2017-2023 by site

Polling 
District

Borough 
Council Ward

Site Location Total 
Dwellings

1-bed 
properties

2-bed 
properties

3-bed 
properties

4-bed 
properties

5+-bed 
properties

Predicted 
population 
increase

Predicted electorate 
increase

LA Bewbush Ward Henty Close Bewbush 24 4 9 7 4 54 38
LA Bewbush Ward Breezehurst Drive Playing Fields 65 10 25 19 11 147 105
LBB Broadfield North Broadfield Barton – Imperial 19 7 12 28 20
LCB Broadfield South BADGERS BANK OLD (BRIGHTON 

ROAD NORTH) BROADFIELD 
CRAWLEY

1 1 4 3

LFA Ifield Ward LAND NORTH OF THE TWEED 
TWEED LANE IFIELD CRAWLEY

1 1 3 2

LFA Ifield Ward FIRST FLOOR IFIELD HOUSE 
IFIELD GREEN IFIELD CRAWLEY

3 2 1 4 3

LFA Ifield Ward 2-12 Friston Walk Crawley 15 2 6 4 3 35 25
LFA Ifield Ward SITE OF FORMER IFIELD 

COMMUNITY COLLEGE LADY 
MARGARET ROAD IFIELD 
CRAWLEY

172 39 96 37 312 222

LFB Ifield Ward 81 SHIPLEY ROAD, IFIELD, 
CRAWLEY

2 1 1 3 2

LFC Ifield Ward THE MILL HOUSE HYDE DRIVE 
IFIELD CRAWLEY

3 3 11 8

LFC Ifield Ward LAND ADJACENT TO DOBBINS 
PLACE, IFIELD, CRAWLEY 

6 6 11 8

LG Langley Green 
Ward

54 LANGLEY DRIVE LANGLEY 
GREEN CRAWLEY

1 1 1 -1 -1 -1

LG Langley Green 
Ward

151 LONDON ROAD LANGLEY 
GREEN CRAWLEY

1 1 4 3

LG Langley Green 
Ward

LANGLEY GRANGE LANGLEY 
WALK LANGLEY GREEN 
CRAWLEY

1 1 4 3

LG Langley Green 
Ward

GURJAR HINDU UNION TEMPLE 
APPLE TREE CENTRE, IFIELD 
AVENUE, IFIELD, CRAWLEY

1 1 1 1

LHA Maidenbower 7A MAIDENBOWER SQUARE 
MAIDENBOWER CRAWLEY

3 1 2 5 4

LI Northgate Ward 159D and 159E Woodfield Road 
Northgate Crawley

-1 -1 -1 1 0 0

LI Northgate Ward LAND R/O 138 LONDON ROAD 
NORTHGATE CRAWLEY

1 1 3 2

LI Northgate Ward FIRST FLOOR 37 & 37A HIGH 
STREET NORTHGATE CRAWLEY

1 1 2 1

LI Northgate Ward 4 THE PAVEMENT NORTHGATE 
CRAWLEY

2 1 1 3 2

LI Northgate Ward 1ST AND 2ND FLOORS 12 THE 
BROADWAY NORTHGATE

2 1 1 3 2

P
age 50

4 
A

ppendix b
A

genda Item
 4



Polling 
District

Borough 
Council Ward

Site Location Total 
Dwellings

1-bed 
properties

2-bed 
properties

3-bed 
properties

4-bed 
properties

5+-bed 
properties

Predicted 
population 
increase

Predicted electorate 
increase

LI Northgate Ward LAND ADJACENT TO 2 
TUSHMORE AVENUE 
NORTHGATE CRAWLEY

2 2 4 3

LI Northgate Ward 22 THE BOULEVARD, 
NORTHGATE, CRAWLEY

2 1 1 3 2

LI Northgate Ward 21-28 BROAD WALK 
NORTHGATE CRAWLEY

3 3 3 2

LI Northgate Ward FIRST FLOOR 12 BROADWALK 
NORTHGATE

3 3 3 2

LI Northgate Ward FIRST FLOOR 42 - 46 THE 
BROADWAY NORTHGATE 
CRAWLEY

4 4 4 3

LI Northgate Ward SAVERS 5 - 6 QUEENS SQUARE 
NORTHGATE CRAWLEY

4 4 4 3

LI Northgate Ward 24-26 The Boulevard Northgate 
Crawley

4 4 4 3

LI Northgate Ward 21 BROAD WALK NORTHGATE 
CRAWLEY

7 7 0 0 0 0 6 4

LI Northgate Ward FIRST & SECOND FLOORS 34-38 
THE BROADWAY, SECOND 
FLOOR 40  THE BROADWAY & 
FIRST AND SECOND FLOORS 48 
THE BROADWAY, NORTHGATE, 
CRAWLEY , RH10 1HG

9 9 16 11

LI Northgate Ward NORTHGATE HOUSE 115 HIGH 
STREET  NORTHGATE CRAWLEY

14 7 7 19 14

LI Northgate Ward Oak Tree Filling Station High 
Street

17 3 6 5 3 38 27

LI Northgate Ward 7 - 13 THE BROADWAY & 1 - 3 
QUEENS SQUARE NORTHGATE 
CRAWLEY

25 14 11 33 24

LI Northgate Ward 116 - 136 London Road 27 4 10 8 5 62 44
LI Northgate Ward BELGRAVE HOUSE STATION 

WAY NORTHGATE CRAWLEY
28 28 26 19

LI Northgate Ward 102 - 112 London Road & 2 - 4 
Tushmore Lane

36 6 14 10 6 80 57

LI Northgate Ward Kilnmead Car Park, Northgate 37 13 22 2 57 41
LI Northgate Ward County Buildings, The Boulevard 50 10 23 14 3 100 71
LI Northgate Ward 15 - 29 THE BROADWAY 

NORTHGATE CRAWLEY
78 65 13 83 59

LI Northgate Ward CAR PARK, 11-13 THE 
BOULEVARD, NORTHGATE, 
CRAWLEY

91 38 50 3 134 95

LI Northgate Ward STONER HOUSE LONDON ROAD 
NORTHGATE

129 129 118 84

P
age 51

4 
A

ppendix b
A

genda Item
 4



Polling 
District

Borough 
Council Ward

Site Location Total 
Dwellings

1-bed 
properties

2-bed 
properties

3-bed 
properties

4-bed 
properties

5+-bed 
properties

Predicted 
population 
increase

Predicted electorate 
increase

LI Northgate Ward Town Hall, The Boulevard 182 35 85 53 9 365 260
LI Northgate Ward OVERLINE HOUSE CRAWLEY 

STATION AND ADJACENT 
HIGHWAY STATION WAY 
NORTHGATE

308 200 107 1 380 271

LJA Pound Hill North 
Ward

9 & 11 HOME CLOSE POUND 
HILL CRAWLEY

3 3 11 8

LJB Pound Hill North 
Ward

WOODEND FORGE WOOD 
POUND HILL CRAWLEY

0 -1 1 2 1

LJB Pound Hill North 
Ward

LEAF COTTAGE FORGE WOOD 
POUND HILL CRAWLEY

1 1 4 3

LJB Pound Hill North 
Ward

35 WALTON HEATH POUND HILL 
CRAWLEY

1 1 2 1

LJB Pound Hill North 
Ward

S/E OF ROSEHIP COTTAGE 
FORGE WOOD POUND HILL

1 1 3 2

LJB Pound Hill North 
Ward

Fairhaven Fernhill Road Crawley 1 1 3 2

LJB Pound Hill North 
Ward

Phase 1A North East Sector 
Crawley

3 3 11 8

LJB Pound Hill North 
Ward

Phase 1B North East Sector 
Crawley

43 18 25 62 44

LJB Pound Hill North 
Ward

Phase 2A NE Sector Crawley 55 44 11 110 78

LJB Pound Hill North 
Ward

PHASE 2D, FORGE WOOD 
(NORTH EAST SECTOR), POUND 
HILL, CRAWLEY

75 33 37 5 180 128

LJB Pound Hill North 
Ward

PHASE 4A, FORGE WOOD (NES), 
CRAWLEY

147 59 55 30 3 381 271

LJB Pound Hill North 
Ward

Phase 3A NE Sector Crawley 225 33 129 63 437 311

LJB Pound Hill North 
Ward

New neighbourhood NE Sector 
Crawley (yet to receive 
Reserved Matters Approval)

593 94 225 173 101 1337 952

LKA Pound Hill South 
Ward

LINDEN COTTAGE 25 WORTH 
PARK AVENUE POUND HILL 
CRAWLEY

0 -1 1 3 2

LKC Pound Hill South 
Ward

LAND OFF WORTH WAY (SOUTH 
OF SAXON ROAD) POUND HILL 
CRAWLEY

1 1 4 3

LKC Pound Hill South 
Ward

FIRCROFT CHURCH ROAD 
POUND HILL CRAWLEY

4 1 3 14 10

LKC Pound Hill South 
Ward

LAND AT CHURCH ROAD 
NURSERIES CHURCH ROAD 
POUND HILL CRAWLEY

5 5 18 13

P
age 52

4 
A

ppendix b
A

genda Item
 4



Polling 
District

Borough 
Council Ward

Site Location Total 
Dwellings

1-bed 
properties

2-bed 
properties

3-bed 
properties

4-bed 
properties

5+-bed 
properties

Predicted 
population 
increase

Predicted electorate 
increase

LKC Pound Hill South 
Ward

Land East of Street Hill 15 2 6 4 3 35 25

LLA Southgate Ward 22 BRIGHTON ROAD (FIRST AND 
SECOND FLOORS) SOUTHGATE

-1 -1 -1 1 1 1

LLA Southgate Ward 75 & 75A MALTHOUSE ROAD 
SOUTHGATE CRAWLEY

-1 -1 -1 1 -1 -1

LLA Southgate Ward 2 OAKHAVEN SOUTHGATE 
CRAWLEY

1 1 3 2

LLA Southgate Ward R/0 71 & 73 EAST PARK, 
SOUTHGATE, CRAWLEY

1 1 2 1

LLA Southgate Ward 11 THE COURTYARD, EAST 
PARK, SOUTHGATE, CRAWLEY

1 1 2 1

LLA Southgate Ward 14 - 15 THE COURTYARD, EAST 
PARK, SOUTHGATE, CRAWLEY

2 2 4 3

LLA Southgate Ward LAND S/O AND R/O 24 
BRIGHTON ROAD SOUTHGATE 
CRAWLEY

14 14 26 19

LLA Southgate Ward Longley Building, East Park 48 9 23 14 2 96 68
LLA Southgate Ward ZURICH HOUSE FORMERLY 

ALLIED DUNBAR HOUSE EAST 
PARK SOUTHGATE CRAWLEY

59 21 38 88 63

LLB Southgate Ward CENTRAL HOUSE, 11 - 13 
BRIGHTON ROAD, SOUTHGATE, 
CRAWLEY

2 2 2 1

LLB Southgate Ward Goffs Park Depot 44 8 30 6 78 56
LLB Southgate Ward 44 GOFFS PARK ROAD, 

(FORMERLY OAKHURST 
GRANGE), SOUTHGATE, 
CRAWLEY

120 94 26 133 95

LLC Southgate Ward 16 SPRINGFIELD ROAD 
SOUTHGATE CRAWLEY

1 2 -1 -1 -1

LLC Southgate Ward NIGHTINGALE HOUSE 1 - 3 
BRIGHTON ROAD SOUTHGATE 
CRAWLEY

3 3 5 4

LLC Southgate Ward 20 SPRINGFIELD ROAD & 1A 
WEST STREET, SOUTHGATE, 
CRAWLEY, RH11 8AD

4 3 1 5 4

LMA Three Bridges 
Ward

37 TINSLEY LANE THREE 
BRIDGES CRAWLEY

1 2 -1 -3 -2

LMA Three Bridges 
Ward

56A - 60 NORTH ROAD THREE 
BRIDGES CRAWLEY

24 10 14 35 25

LMA Three Bridges 
Ward

OCEAN HOUSE OFFICES OCEAN 
HOUSE HAZELWICK AVENUE 
THREE BRIDGES CRAWLEY

29 16 13 38 27

P
age 53

4 
A

ppendix b
A

genda Item
 4



Polling 
District

Borough 
Council Ward

Site Location Total 
Dwellings

1-bed 
properties

2-bed 
properties

3-bed 
properties

4-bed 
properties

5+-bed 
properties

Predicted 
population 
increase

Predicted electorate 
increase

LMA Three Bridges 
Ward

Tinsley Lane playing fields 
Crawley

120 19 46 35 20 270 192

LMB Three Bridges 
Ward

26 GALES DRIVE THREE BRIDGES 
CRAWLEY

2 2 2 1

LMB Three Bridges 
Ward

95-97 THREE BRIDGES ROAD 
THREE BRIDGES CRAWLEY

2 1 1 5 4

LMB Three Bridges 
Ward

83 - 87 THREE BRIDGES ROAD, 
THREE BRIDGES, CRAWLEY

2 -2 4 5 4

LMB Three Bridges 
Ward

Central Sussex College (East of 
Tower)

90 32 58 135 96

LMC Three Bridges 
Ward

Former TSB Site Russell Way 40 6 15 12 7 91 65

LMC Three Bridges 
Ward

Telford Place/Haslett Avenue 99 19 46 29 5 199 142

LMC Three Bridges 
Ward

SUTHERLAND HOUSE RUSSELL 
WAY THREE BRIDGES CRAWLEY

230 230 210 150

LNB Tilgate Ward FLINT COTTAGE BRIGHTON 
ROAD TILGATE CRAWLEY

5 5 18 13

LNB Tilgate Ward Land Adjacent to Desmond 
Anderson Ashdown Drive 
Crawley

100 16 38 29 17 225 160

LO West Green Ward 31 CRABTREE ROAD WEST 
GREEN CRAWLEY

1 1 2 1

LO West Green Ward 10 IFIELD ROAD, WEST GREEN, 
CRAWLEY

1 1 2 1

LO West Green Ward 179 IFIELD ROAD, WEST GREEN, 
CRAWLEY, RH11 7HX

1 1 2 1

LO West Green Ward 36 ALPHA ROAD AND REAR OF 
13 ALBANY ROAD WEST GREEN 
CRAWLEY

4 2 2 5 4

LO West Green Ward Traders Market High Street 5 1 4 8 6
LO West Green Ward Rear Gardens Snell Hatch/Ifield 

Road
15 2 6 4 3 35 25

LO West Green Ward Rear Gardens Dingle Close/Ifield 
Road

18 3 7 5 3 40 28

LO West Green Ward SHAW HOUSE PEGLER WAY 
WEST GREEN CRAWLEY

33 11 22 50 36

LO West Green Ward Southern Counties garage 27-45 
Ifield Road Crawley

218 120 98 288 205

P
age 54

4 
A

ppendix b
A

genda Item
 4



Crawley Borough Council
Report to Governance Committee

28th November 2017

2018 Review of Parliamentary Constituencies

Report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services:  LDS/133

1. Purpose

1.1 This report informs the Committee of the revised proposals of the Boundary 
Commission for England for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries as they 
affect Crawley.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That representations be made to the Boundary Commission for England that the 
Rusper and Colgate ward should be included in Crawley parliamentary constituency.

3. Reasons for the Recommendations

3.1 The residents of Kilnwood Vale will receive significant services from Crawley 
constituency and would be best represented by the Member of Parliament for 
Crawley.

4. Background

4.1 In 2016 the Boundary Commission for England (BCE) announced the start of a 
Review of Parliamentary constituencies. At its meeting held on 14th November 2017 
the Governance Committee considered the initial proposals of the Boundary 
Commission for England (BCE) for a new parliamentary constituency for Crawley as 
part of the review of constituencies under the provisions of the Parliamentary Voting 
System and Constituencies Act 2011.

4.2 The new rules involve a reduction in the number of Constituencies in England from 
533 to 501, and state that each constituency must have an electorate, at December 
2015, no smaller than 71,031 and no bigger than 78,507.

4.3 At present, the boundaries of Crawley Constituency and Crawley Borough are co-
terminus. The parliamentary electorate for Crawley on 1st December 2015 was 
70,578 and therefore is not big enough to remain co-terminus with the borough 
boundary under the new rules.

Page 555 Agenda Item 5



4.4 The BCE had proposed adding the Copthorne and Worth ward of Mid Sussex to 
Crawley constituency as shown in the map below.

4.5 At its meeting held on 14th November 2016 the Governance Committee considered 
the alternative options for Crawley constituency and agreed to make representations 
to the Commission to include the new Kilnwood Vale development to the West of 
Bewbush in the proposed constituency in addition to the Copthorne and Worth Ward.

4.6 The Boundary Commission for England have now published their revised proposals 
which retain their original proposals for Crawley as shown in the map at 4.4. In 
response to the Committee’s proposal to include Kilnwood Vale in the constituency 
the Commission stated that they “did not consider Crawley Borough Council’s 
Governance Committee’s proposal to have exceptional and compelling 
circumstances to justify splitting the ward of Rusper and Colgate”. The consultation 
period for responses to the revised proposals closes on 11th December 2017.

4.7 The Committee is recommended to consider whether to make further 
representations to the BCE. Once it has considered the comments on the revised 
proposals the BCE will make final recommendations in a report published and 
presented to Parliament in September 2018. If Parliament agrees the changes to 
boundaries, the new constituencies will take effect at the next scheduled General 
Election in 2022.

4.8 The new neighbourhood of Kilnwood Vale in Horsham constituency, at land to the 
west of Bewbush, is a significant development on the constituency boundary. Many 
of the services received by residents will be based in Crawley and it would be 
appropriate for the residents there to be represented by the Member of Parliament 
for Crawley.

Page 565 Agenda Item 5



4.9 Kilnwood Vale is contained in the Rusper and Colgate Ward which is shown on the 
map below.

4.10 A proposal to add Rusper and Colgate Ward to Crawley constituency in place of 
Copthorne and Worth Ward would leave both Horsham and Crawley constituencies 
close to the UK electoral quota.

4.11 There are close community links with residents living in Kilnwood Vale and on the 
part of Rusper and Colgate Ward on the Western edge of Ifield to Crawley. The 
committee is therefore recommended to consider whether representations are made 
to the BCE to include Rusper and Colgate ward with Crawley Constituency in place 
of Copthorne and Worth.

5. Implications

There are no other implications.

6. Background Papers

Boundary Commission for England Guide to the 2018 Review of Parliamentary 
constituencies.

Report to Governance Committee 14th November 2016

Revised proposals for new constituency boundaries in the South East

Report author and contact officer: Andrew Oakley, Electoral Services Manager 
01293 438346

Page 575 Agenda Item 5

https://www.bce2018.org.uk/node/6488?postcode=RH101UZ
https://www.bce2018.org.uk/node/6488?postcode=RH101UZ
http://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/Data/Governance%20Committee/20161114/Agenda/PUB298761.pdf
https://www.bce2018.org.uk/download_document?type=0&document_id=41233


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Electoral Review 2017/2018
	Appendix A: Draft Submission Document
	Appendix B: Crawley 2023 Electorate Forecast

	5 2018 Review of Parliamentary Constituencies

